

ADVANCING MONITORING, EVALUATION, RESEARCH, AND LEARNING CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT IN AFRICA

OCTOBER 2025

Prepared by:

Diana Amabelle Nwakanma Abdullahi Ibrahim Akolade Oladipupo Abisoye Ajose Adefunke Adeyeye Aishat Jimoh



Table of Contents

Foreword	3
Acknowledgements	4
Executive Summary	5
1.0 Introduction: The Imperative for MERL in Africa	6
2.0 The Imperative for MERL Capacity Development in Africa	6
3.0 Current Landscape and Key Insights from Training Initiatives	7
3.1 Key Insights from LEAP Africa's Advanced MERL Training:	7
3.2 Broader Landscape of MERL Capacity in Africa:	7
4.0 Challenges in MERL Capacity Development in Africa	8
5.0 Successful Strategies and Recommendations for Enhancing MERL Capacit	ĮУ
Development	9
5.1 Context-Specific and Adaptive Training:	9
5.2 Diversified Training Formats:	9
5.3 Mentorship and Peer Learning:	9
5.4 Leveraging Technology Strategically:	10
5.5 Strengthening Partnerships and Collaboration:	10
5.6 Addressing Funding and Accessibility:	10
5.7 Improving Training Delivery and Design:	11
6.0 Conclusion	11
7.0 Next Steps and Future Outlook	11
References	13

Foreword

The trajectory of development in Africa is linked to the continent's capacity for robust evidence based approaches. As nations across the continent strive towards sustainable development goals, the ability to accurately measure progress, learn from interventions, and adapt strategies based on evidence becomes paramount. This white paper serves as a critical examination of the current state of MERL capacity development, highlighting both the remarkable strides made and the enduring challenges that necessitate a concerted and innovative response. It is a call to action for stakeholders across government, civil society, academia, and the private sector to collectively invest in, and champion a vibrant, contextually relevant, and locally-driven MERL ecosystem that truly empowers Africa's development journey.

Acknowledgements

This white paper draws significantly from the invaluable insights gleaned from LEAP Africa's internal reports on the Advanced MERL Training for Mid Level and Experienced Development Professionals, 2024.

We extend our sincere gratitude to our clients as well as LEAP Africa as an organization, for their pioneering work in fostering MERL competencies on the continent and, to our participants, for sharing their experiences, which form a foundational component of this analysis and review.

We also acknowledge the extensive body of literature and the dedicated MERL practitioners, researchers, and organizations across Africa whose efforts continue to shape and advance the field. Their collective reflective practice, wisdom and commitment highlight the importance and urgency of strengthening MERL capacity for a more prosperous and equitable Africa.

Executive Summary

Effective Monitoring, Evaluation, Research, and Learning (MERL) is indispensable for driving sustainable development in Africa. This white paper examines the current landscape of MERL capacity development on the continent, drawing insights from recent training initiatives and broader literature.

While significant strides are being made, particularly through targeted training programs that enhance individual competencies, persistent challenges such as funding limitations, a historical reliance on external expertise, and insufficient collaborative platforms hinder widespread MERL excellence.

This paper proposes a multifaceted approach, advocating for context-specific and adaptive training methodologies, robust mentorship and peer learning frameworks, strategic integration of technology, strengthened collaborative partnerships, and flexible funding mechanisms. Embracing these strategies would lead Africa to cultivate a resilient and locally-driven MERL ecosystem that is capable of fostering evidence-based decision-making and accelerating progress towards its development goals.

5

1.0 Introduction: The Imperative for MERL in Africa

Monitoring, Evaluation, Research, and Learning (MERL) constitute the backbone of effective development programming. They provide the necessary tools to track progress, assess impact, generate evidence, and foster continuous improvement in interventions aimed at addressing complex societal challenges. In Africa, where development contexts are diverse and dynamic, robust MERL systems are not merely a technical requirement but a strategic imperative for accountability, transparency, and the efficient allocation of resources. The demand for skilled MERL professionals is rapidly increasing across various sectors, including non-profits, government agencies, private organizations, and educational institutions, as stakeholders increasingly recognize the value of data-driven insights [1].

This white paper aims to provide a comprehensive analysis of MERL capacity development in Africa. It synthesizes findings from a recent advanced MERL training report, specifically LEAP Africa's Advanced MERL Training Cohort 4, with broader academic and practitioner literature. The paper identifies key achievements, persistent challenges, and proposes actionable strategies to strengthen MERL capabilities across the continent, ultimately contributing to more impactful and sustainable development outcomes.

2.0 The Imperative for MERL Capacity Development in Africa

The importance of MERL in the African development context cannot be overstated. It serves several critical functions:

Accountability and Transparency: MERL provides mechanisms to demonstrate whether programs are achieving their intended results and whether resources are being used effectively, thereby enhancing accountability to beneficiaries, donors, and other stakeholders [2].

Evidence-Based Decision Making: By generating credible data and insights, MERL enables organizations to make informed decisions, adapt strategies, and optimize interventions for greater impact. This is particularly crucial in resource-constrained environments where every investment must yield demonstrable results.

Learning and Adaptation: The "Learning" component of MERL is crucial, fostering a culture of continuous reflection, knowledge sharing, and adaptive management, which is essential in rapidly evolving development landscapes ^[3]. This allows programs to remain relevant and responsive to changing contexts.

Resource Optimization: Understanding what works and what doesn't allows for better allocation of limited resources, preventing wasteful expenditure on ineffective programs and directing investments towards proven interventions.

Program Improvement: Regular monitoring and evaluation provide timely feedback loops, enabling program managers to identify challenges and make necessary adjustments during implementation, rather than at the end of a project cycle. This iterative approach to programming significantly enhances effectiveness.

3.0 Current Landscape and Key Insights from Training Initiatives

Recent training initiatives, such as the Advanced MERL Training Cohort 4 by LEAP Africa, offer valuable insights into the current state and potential of MERL capacity development.

3.1 Key Insights from LEAP Africa's Advanced MERL Training:

- **Diverse Participation and High Demand:** The training attracted 18 participants from various non-profit organizations, corporate entities, and educational institutions, none of whom were LEAP Africa staff. This highlights a significant external demand for MERL expertise across diverse sectors in Africa. Participants held pivotal roles (e.g., CEO, MERL Manager, Program Manager), indicating a top-down recognition of MERL's importance and a desire for skill enhancement at leadership levels.
- **Gender Dynamics:** The training observed a higher participation of males (66.67%) compared to females (33.33%). While this indicates a strong readiness among men to pursue independent capacity-building opportunities in MERL for career advancement, it also suggests a potential area for future outreach to ensure more equitable gender representation in such training programs.
- Enhanced Competency Levels: A notable shift in participants' competency levels was observed across all training modules. On a scale of 5, there was a change from an average of 3 to 4 for modules like "Fundamentals of M&E systems," "M&E Research," "Impact Assessment," "Designing Data Collection tools for M&E," and "Data Analytics for M&E (PowerBI & Dashboards)." "Emerging Trends in MEL" saw a competency shift from 2 to 3. This demonstrates the immediate and measurable impact of well-structured training interventions on individual capabilities.
- **Learning Readiness and Engagement:** Participants displayed high eagerness to learn, actively engaging in exercises, asking practical questions, and seeking to apply concepts to their daily job roles. This indicates a strong intrinsic motivation for skill acquisition and a conducive learning environment fostered by the training design.
- Facilitator Capacity and Training Relevance: The facilitators were consistently rated highly for their resourcefulness, knowledge, and ability to deliver practical scenarios and share experiences. Participants also attested to the direct relevance of the training topics to their current job roles, emphasizing the dynamic nature of the MERL field in Africa and the need for up-to-date content.
- **Community of Practice:** The establishment of a Virtual Community of Practice (VCOP) through a WhatsApp group, exchange of facilitator emails, and an online resource folder facilitated ongoing learning and networking among participants and facilitators. This informal yet effective mechanism supports sustained knowledge exchange beyond the formal training period.

3.2 Broader Landscape of MERL Capacity in Africa:

Beyond individual training programs, the broader landscape of MERL capacity in Africa involves three interconnected levels [4]:

• **Individual Level:** This focuses on equipping individuals with the necessary knowledge, skills, and attitudes. Training programs like LEAP Africa's directly address this, building the human capital required for effective MERL.

7

- Organizational/Institutional Level: This pertains to the internal systems, structures, and
 culture within organizations that enable or hinder effective MERL. This includes policies,
 resources, leadership commitment, and the integration of MERL into strategic planning
 and decision-making processes.
- **System/Country Level:** This encompasses the national M&E frameworks, policies, professional associations, and overall enabling environment for MERL practice. This level involves fostering a culture of evidence use, promoting ethical MERL practices, and ensuring adequate investment in MERL infrastructure.

While individual competencies are improving, strengthening MERL at the organizational and system levels remains crucial for sustainable impact. There is a growing recognition of the need for context-specific approaches that are adaptable, measurable, and sustainable, promoting cooperation between state and non-state sectors ^[5].

4.0 Challenges in MERL Capacity Development in Africa

Despite the progress and clear demand, several significant challenges impede comprehensive MERL capacity development in Africa:

Limited Funding: A primary barrier to effective M&E systems capacity-strengthening in the African context is often limited funding ^[6]. This affects the ability to conduct thorough needs assessments, implement tailored capacity development plans, and sustain initiatives beyond short-term projects.

Unidirectional Flow of Capacity Building: Historically, there has been a largely unidirectional flow of capacity-building activities from the Global North to Africa. This approach often fails to consider the vast existing expertise within Africa, leading to interventions that are not always suited to the local context and may be inappropriate ^[1]. It also limits opportunities for African experts to access global networking platforms and contribute their unique perspectives.

Ineffective Training Methodologies: One-off, short-term training workshops are often insufficient for building deep, sustainable MERL capabilities. Capacity building is a process that requires iterative engagement, embedded learning, and a focus on building trust and relationships, rather than isolated interventions ^[1]. The lack of follow-up and practical application opportunities can diminish the long-term impact of training.

Network and Infrastructure Issues: Findings from LEAP Africa MERL training indicate that network glitches and connectivity issues can disrupt virtual training sessions, impacting participant engagement and learning continuity. This is a pervasive challenge in many parts of Africa, affecting access to online resources and collaborative platforms.

Time Management in Training: The robustness of training topics and participant engagement can lead to challenges in time management during sessions, affecting break times and allocated slots for interactive activities. This necessitates careful curriculum design and flexible delivery models.

Accessibility of Payment Options: Feedback from participants in the LEAP Africa training indicated challenges in accessing payment details in a timely manner, which can deter participation. Bureaucratic or limited payment options can create unnecessary barriers for individuals and smaller organizations.

- **Limited Access to Networking:** African MERL experts may not have the same access to international networking opportunities and conferences, which can limit knowledge exchange, professional growth, and exposure to global best practices ^[1].
- Capacity Gaps in Specific Areas: Despite general improvements, specific capacity gaps may persist, particularly in niche or emerging areas of MERL, such as adaptive MERL, gender-responsive evaluation, or the application of advanced data analytics and artificial intelligence in complex contexts like conflict-affected regions or public health emergencies [3].

5.0 Successful Strategies and Recommendations for Enhancing MERL Capacity Development

To overcome these challenges and foster a robust MERL ecosystem in Africa, a multi-pronged and adaptive approach is essential.

5.1 Context-Specific and Adaptive Training:

- **Tailored Simulations:** Future training should incorporate more context-specific simulations aligned with participants' areas of focus (e.g., education, youth, entrepreneurship, peacebuilding, gender). This facilitates richer engagement and direct applicability of learned concepts to real-world scenarios ^[7].
- Inclusion of Novel Approaches: Integrate topics such as gender-responsive and feminist approaches to MERL, unpacking evaluation, evaluation frameworks, and learning and knowledge management systems for organizations. This ensures training remains current and addresses critical cross-cutting themes in development.
- **Demand-Led Needs Assessment:** Capacity development initiatives should be demand-led, working collaboratively with recipients to determine specific needs or developing approaches to identify these needs where they are not yet clear [1]. This ensures relevance and ownership.

5.2 Diversified Training Formats:

- **Blended Learning:** Move beyond solely virtual live sessions to a mix of live sessions, recorded videos, and interactive virtual training sessions. This enhances flexibility and accommodates diverse learning styles, especially given varying internet access and schedules across the continent [8].
- Structured Interactive Activities: Plan interactive activities like polls, Q&A sessions, and breakout discussions with strict time limits, potentially using digital tools like Mentimeter or Kahoot, to maintain engagement and pacing. This ensures active participation without compromising content delivery.

5.3 Mentorship and Peer Learning:

- Post-Training Mentorship Programs: Given that a significant percentage of participants may be new to MERL, formal mentorship programs can be established to pair participants with experienced MERL practitioners after training [9]. This fosters collaboration and provides personalized, ongoing support, addressing the need for iterative capacity building.
- Strengthening Communities of Practice: Continue to nurture and expand virtual and

in-person Communities of Practice (CoPs) to facilitate ongoing knowledge and experience sharing among MERL professionals. These platforms are crucial for peer learning, problem-solving, and professional networking, creating a supportive ecosystem for continuous growth.

5.4 Leveraging Technology Strategically:

- Open-Source Collaborative Learning Platforms: Create and promote open-source platforms that provide free access to a wide range of MERL learning materials, including tutorials, webinars, templates, and toolkits [10]. This helps bridge learning gaps and democratizes access to resources for young people across various sectors, particularly those with limited financial resources.
- Integration of Tech-Enabled Tools: Continue to equip participants with knowledge and practical skills in using emerging tech-enabled MERL tools (e.g., PowerBI for data analytics, advanced data collection software). This ensures practitioners are proficient in modern data management and visualization techniques.
- Exploring Emerging Technologies: Investigate and responsibly integrate new types of data sources (application data, sensor data, drone data, biometrics), new data storage systems (blockchain, cloud/edge computing), and advanced processing methods (machine learning) into MERL practice [11]. This requires addressing challenges related to data quality, bias, ethical considerations, and the digital divide.

5.5 Strengthening Partnerships and Collaboration:

- Collaborative Partnerships with Youth Development Organizations: Establish mutual
 partnerships where MERL experts across organizations can facilitate training and
 organize knowledge-sharing sessions within the youth ecosystem. This fosters a
 collaborative learning environment and leverages existing expertise.
- Engagement with HR Leads: Adopt a multifaceted marketing approach that targets Human Resource Leads of different organizations to encourage organizational investment in MERL capacity building for their staff. This can lead to more systematic and sustained capacity development within institutions.
- **Support for National and Regional Networks:** Strengthen national evaluation associations and pan-African networks (e.g., African Evaluation Association) to serve as forums for knowledge exchange, best practices, and capacity-building efforts ^[5]. These networks are vital for professionalization and advocacy.
- **Promoting Southern Leadership:** Actively utilize and promote the vast knowledge and expertise existing within Africa. Capacity-building activities should be co-produced, collegial, and recognize African experts as equal partners, ensuring interventions are contextually appropriate and sustainable [1].

5.6 Addressing Funding and Accessibility:

- Flexible Payment Options: Provide multiple and flexible payment options for training programs, including credit/debit cards, digital wallets, bank transfers, and installment plans, to reduce financial barriers and broaden access. This is crucial for individuals and smaller organizations.
- Strategic Funding Allocation: Advocate for increased and dedicated funding for MERL capacity needs assessments and tailored development plans at individual, organizational, and system levels ^[6]. Donors and governments must recognize MERL as a critical investment, not just an overhead cost.

• **Scholarships and Fellowships:** Encourage the provision of scholarships and fellowships to address training gaps, prioritizing local consultants and experts. This builds a pipeline of skilled African MERL professionals.

5.7 Improving Training Delivery and Design:

- **Better Time Management:** Implement digital tools like countdown timers for sessions and breaks, and enforce strict time limits for interactive activities to ensure smooth flow and cover all content. This addresses a common challenge in virtual training.
- Inclusive and Accessible Design: Ensure all training materials and activities are accessible to diverse participants, including those with disabilities, by using screen reader-compatible content and video captions. This promotes equity and broad participation.
- Facilitator Dry Runs: Conduct dry runs with facilitators prior to training to review content, optimize time slots, and make necessary adjustments for seamless delivery. This proactive approach minimizes technical glitches and ensures smooth execution.

6.0 Conclusion

The journey towards robust MERL capacity in Africa is a continuous one, marked by both significant progress and persistent challenges. Initiatives like LEAP Africa's training demonstrate the immense potential for enhancing individual competencies and fostering vibrant communities of practice. However, to truly transform the MERL landscape across the continent, a more strategic, collaborative, and adaptive approach is required.

Prioritizing context-specific training, fostering strong mentorship networks, strategically leveraging technology, forging impactful partnerships, and addressing systemic barriers like funding and accessibility would lead Africa to cultivate a resilient and self-sufficient MERL ecosystem. This will not only empower development professionals with critical skills but also ensure that programs are more effective, accountable, and ultimately, contribute to the sustainable socio-economic transformation of the continent.

7.0 Next Steps and Future Outlook

The continuous evolution of the development landscape in Africa necessitates a forward-looking approach to MERL capacity development. Building on the insights and recommendations outlined in this white paper, the following detailed next steps are crucial for solidifying and expanding MERL capabilities across the continent:

Implement Longitudinal Studies on Skills Application and Organizational Impact: Design and execute longitudinal studies to systematically track how trained individuals apply their enhanced MERL skills in their professional roles over time. This includes monitoring changes in organizational MERL practices, improvements in data quality, evidence utilization in decision-making, and ultimately, the demonstrable impact on program outcomes. Such studies will provide concrete evidence of return on investment for MERL capacity building.

Advocate for Policy Integration and Enabling Environments: Actively engage with governmental bodies, regional economic communities, and national development planning agencies to advocate for the formal integration of robust MERL frameworks and policies at national and sub-national levels. This includes supporting the development of national M&E policies, guidelines, and standards that promote a culture of evidence-informed decision-making and allocate dedicated resources for MERL. Advocacy efforts should also focus on creating an enabling regulatory and institutional environment for MERL professionals.

Foster a Culture of Localized MERL Research and Knowledge Generation: Encourage and fund localized research into MERL methodologies and practices that are specifically tailored to the diverse African contexts. This involves supporting African researchers and institutions to generate evidence on what works in different settings, contributing to a body of knowledge that is relevant and accessible to practitioners on the continent. Promote the publication and dissemination of this research through accessible platforms.

Invest in Continuous Professional Development and Specialization: Beyond foundational training, establish pathways for continuous professional development in specialized MERL areas, such as advanced impact evaluation methodologies (e.g., randomized control trials, quasi-experimental designs), big data analytics for development, geospatial analysis for monitoring, and the ethical use of artificial intelligence in MERL. This will ensure African MERL professionals remain at the cutting edge of the field.

Develop and Promote Digital MERL Tools and Platforms: Continue to support the development and adoption of user-friendly, affordable, and contextually appropriate digital MERL tools and platforms. This includes mobile-based data collection tools, open-source data visualization dashboards, and knowledge management systems that can operate effectively even in low-connectivity environments, further democratizing access to MERL technologies.

Diversify Funding Streams for MERL Capacity Building: Explore innovative and sustainable funding models for MERL capacity development, moving beyond traditional donor reliance. This could include partnerships with the private sector, establishing MERL endowment funds, leveraging philanthropic investments, and encouraging national governments to allocate a dedicated percentage of development budgets to MERL capacity building.

Embracing these comprehensive next steps can not only address existing MERL capacity gaps but also proactively build a resilient, innovative, and locally-led MERL ecosystem. This will empower the continent to effectively track its progress, learn from its experiences, and ultimately achieve its ambitious development aspirations.

References

[1] UNFCCC. (n.d.). Challenges & Opportunities for Capacity Building in the Africa Region. Retrieved from https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/CDKN%20Presentation%20capacity%20building%20%281%2 9.pdf

[2] Trevor Noah Foundation. (2021). Measuring Impact Through Monitoring, Evaluation, Research and Learning (MERL). Retrieved from

https://trevornoahfoundation.org/measuring-impact-through-monitoring-evaluation-research-and-lear ning-merl/

[3] Global Evaluation Initiative. (n.d.). Harnessing the power of practical approaches: Insights from SAMEA's Tech-enabled MERL Community of Practice. Retrieved from

https://www.globalevaluationinitiative.org/event/harnessing-power-practical-approaches-insights-same as-tech-enabled-merl-community-practice

[4] Research to Action. (2024). Strengthening and measuring M&E capacity in Africa. Retrieved from https://www.researchtoaction.org/2024/05/strengthening-and-measuring-me-capacity-in-africa/

[5] World Bank Group. (n.d.). Developing African Capacity for Monitoring and Evaluation. Retrieved from https://ieg.worldbankgroup.org/reports/developing-african-capacity-monitoring-and-evaluation

[6] Research to Action. (2024). Strengthening and measuring M&E capacity in Africa. Retrieved from https://www.researchtoaction.org/2024/05/strengthening-and-measuring-me-capacity-in-africa/

[7] CGPG Africa. (2025). Training in Monitoring, Evaluation, Reflecting, Reporting & Learning (MERL) - Africa. Retrieved from

https://cgpg-africa.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/Course-prospectus-MERL-February-2025.pdf
[8] Council for International Development. (n.d.). CID Training: Best-Practice Monitoring, Evaluation, Research and Learning (MERL) - Improving Outcome and Performance Reporting to Meet
Multi-Stakeholder Needs. Retrieved from

https://www.cid.org.nz/events/upcoming/cid-training-best-practice-monitoring-evaluation-research-and-learning-merl-improving-outcome-and-performance-reporting-to-meet-multi-stakeholder-needs/

[9] SciDev.Net. (2023). Mentorship key to building Africa's research capacity. Retrieved from https://www.scidev.net/global/supported-content/mentorship-key-to-building-africas-research-capacity/ [10] MERL Center. (n.d.). The official MERL open source community. Retrieved from

https://merlcenter.org/
[11] MERL Tech. (2020). Emerging Technologies and Approaches in Monitoring, Evaluation, Research, and Learning for International Development Programs. Retrieved from

https://merltech.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/4_MERL_Emerging-Tech_FINAL_7.19.2020.pdf